ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. <u>93,940</u>

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY,

Petitioner,

V.

CITY OF DANIA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

STEEL HECTOR & DAVIS LLP John W. Little, III, P.A., FBN 384798 Ron A. Adams, P.A., FBN 318299 1900 Phillips Point West 777 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 650-7200

JEAN G. HOWARD, FBN 317462 Florida Power & Light Company 9250 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33103 (305) 552-3929

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

SEP 23 19981 CLERK QUALMO

FILED

SID J. WHITE

Aruel Deputy Clerk

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT		
ARGUMENT		
I.	The Fourth District's Decision Expressly And Directly Conflicts With Decisions Of This Court In <u>EDC</u> , <u>Haines</u> And <u>Vaillant</u>	
II.	The Fourth District's Decision Divides The District Courts Of Appeal On The Same Question of Law As It Expressly And Directly Conflicts With The Second District's Decision In <u>Kuehnel</u> And The Fifth District's Decision In <u>Owings</u>	
CONCLUSION		
CERTIFIC	ATE OF SERVICE	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

.

T

•

CASES

<u>City of Deerfield Beach v. Vaillant,</u> 419 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1982)
<u>City of West Palm Beach v. Education Dev. Center, Inc.,</u> 526 So. 2d 775 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), <u>rev'd</u> 541 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1989)
Education Dev. Center, Inc. v. City of West Palm Beach, 541 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1989)
Fowler v. City of Titusville, 603 So. 2d 724 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992)
<u>Haines City Community Dev. v. Heggs</u> , 658 So. 2d 523 (Fla. 1995) 2,3,5,7,8
Manatee County v. Kuehnel, 542 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev'd denied 548 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 1989) 3,4,8,9
<u>St. Johns County v. Owings,</u> 554 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), <u>rev'd denied</u> 564 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1990)

EXPLANATION OF REFERENCES

A conformed copy of the decision below, dated January 21, 1998 and rendered August 12, 1998, may be found at Tab A of the attached Appendix. The designation "A-___" is used to reference specific pages of this decision. A conformed copy of the court's August 12, 1998 decision denying FPL's motion for rehearing, with a specially concurring opinion, is contained in the Appendix at Tab B. The designation "B-___" is used to reference pages of that decision.

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to this Court's Order dated July 13, 1998, Petitioner certifies that the size and style of type used in this brief is 14 point proportionately spaced Times New Roman.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This petition for discretionary review arises from a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, expanding the district court's certiorari jurisdiction beyond that established by this Court and placing the decision below in express and direct conflict with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal on the same question of law. The facts as recited in the decision below are as follows.

Florida Power & Light Company ("FPL") applied to the City of Dania ("the City") for a special zoning exception to build an electrical substation on a commercially zoned parcel of land in the City. A-1. Under the City's Zoning Code, the use of the property for an electrical substation is allowed provided it meets the criteria established for a special exception use. Id. After a public hearing on the application where both sides presented testimony and evidence, the City Commission denied the application. Id. This denial was quashed on certiorari review by the appellate division of the Broward County Circuit Court, based on its determination that there was no substantial competent evidence in the record to support the denial. A-1,2.

The City sought certiorari review of the circuit court's decision in the Fourth District on two grounds. As relevant here, the City first challenged the correctness of the circuit court's *conclusion* on the substantial competent evidence component of certiorari review. A-2. ("We first address the City's argument that the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law *by concluding* that FP&L met its burden . . . and conversely that the City did not ") (emphasis added). FPL argued, inter alia, that the district court could not conduct a second review of the substantial competent evidence issue addressed by the circuit court. Id.

The Fourth District acknowledged this Court's decision in Haines, infra, which held that "[t]he standard of review for certiorari in the district court effectively eliminates the substantial competent evidence component," but nonetheless proceeded to address this component based on decisions in the Third and Fourth Districts. A-2,3. The court criticized the absence of specific findings and reasons for the circuit court's conclusion that there was no substantial competent evidence to support the City Commission's denial, reexamined the evidence before the City Commission, arrived at its own determination that the record did contain such evidence, and therefore concluded that "the circuit court appears to have substituted its evaluation of the evidence for that of the City," which the Fourth District characterized as a departure from the essential requirements of law requiring certiorari relief. A-3,4 (emphasis added). Addressing the City's second argument, the Fourth District further held that the circuit court also departed from the essential requirements of law by stating that the City's burden was especially heavy because the special exception in this case was for essential services (an electrical substation). A-1,4.

FPL filed a timely motion for rehearing, motion for rehearing en banc, and alternative motion for certification. On August 12, 1998, the Fourth District denied the motion for rehearing. B-1. One of the three judges on the original panel, however, filed a specially concurring opinion expressly finding direct conflict between the Fourth District's decision below and decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal on the question of whether the district court is permitted to review the substantial competent evidence component a second time. B-1 to 3.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court held in EDC, Haines and Vaillant, infra, that when certiorari relief is sought from a quasi-judicial decision as in the instant case, the circuit court, sitting in its appellate capacity, should employ a three part standard of review: (1) whether procedural due process was afforded; (2) whether the essential requirements of law were observed; and (3) whether there was substantial competent evidence to support the decision. However, if certiorari relief is sought from the circuit court's decision, the standard of review in the district court narrows. The inquiry is limited to whether the circuit court afforded procedural due process and whether the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law (i.e. applied the correct law); the substantial competent evidence component is eliminated. Thus, under this Court's holdings, as followed by the Second District in Kuehnel and the Fifth District in <u>Owings</u>, the district court *cannot* review the evidence and make its own determination as to whether there was substantial competent evidence in the record to support the zoning authority's decision.

In EDC, this Court reversed a Fourth District decision granting certiorari relief on the basis that the circuit court must have substituted its judgment for that of the zoning authority because the Fourth District came to a different conclusion as to whether substantial competent evidence existed based on its own review of the evidence. The Fourth District's decision below does the exact same thing for the exact same reason. As a result, in the Fourth District, a petitioner is afforded a second plenary appeal on the substantial competent evidence component, in direct conflict with the decisions of this Court and other district courts. Just as in EDC, the exercise of this Court's jurisdiction is necessary to cure these conflicts and to prevent further unauthorized exercises of certiorari review by district courts on this important and recurring question of law.

ARGUMENT

I. The Fourth District's Decision Expressly And Directly Conflicts With This Court's Decisions In EDC, Haines And Vaillant.

I cannot reconcile <u>Multidyne</u> [4th DCA], <u>Blumenthal</u> [3d DCA], and the instant case with <u>Owings</u> [5th DCA] and <u>Kuehnel</u> [2d DCA]. More importantly, I think <u>Multidyne</u> and <u>Blumenthal</u> are directly contrary to [EDC] [Supreme Court of Florida]. It appears to me that confusion continues as to the appellate courts' proper scope of review in certiorari proceedings from the Circuit Court sitting in its appellate capacity. . . [The] majority opinion in this case [has] simply collapsed the third component of circuit court review [whether the decision is supported by substantial competent evidence], into the consideration of whether the circuit court applied the correct law. This was disapproved by [EDC] . . . and nothing in [Haines] would suggest that district court review should be expanded to review competent substantial evidence determinations.

B-3 (emphasis added). These are not FPL's statements. Rather, they are the wellreasoned conclusions of one of the judges on the panel below in a specially concurring opinion on FPL's motion for rehearing. As that judge correctly determined, the Fourth District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in Education Dev. Center, Inc. v. City of West Palm Beach, 541 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1989) ("EDC"); Haines City Community Dev. v. Heggs, 658 So. 2d 523 (Fla. 1995) ("Haines"); and City of Deerfield Beach v. Vaillant, 419 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1982) ("Vaillant"); and with the decisions of at least two other district courts of appeal.

Stripped to its essence, the Fourth District simply disagreed with the circuit court over whether there was substantial competent evidence to support the City's denial. The Fourth District reached this result by (1) reexamining the testimony before the City Commission, (2) noting that the circuit court's order consisted of "conclusory statements" rather than specific findings, (3) finding that "the record as a whole contains substantial competent evidence to support a denial of the special exception"

and (4) concluding that "because the circuit court appears to have substituted its evaluation of the evidence for that of the City . . . the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law." A-3,4. This is precisely what EDC - - a case not even mentioned in the decision below - - prohibits.

In EDC, the circuit court granted certiorari relief and reversed the City's decision to deny the application, finding in a conclusory fashion that "there was no substantial competent evidence to support the City's denial" On certiorari review, the Fourth District reversed the circuit court *for the very same reason that the Fourth District has cited in this case*:

The record contains competent evidence supporting both sides of the controversy presented to the zoning board. There was substantial evidence to support denial of the application To find to the contrary, we conclude that the lower tribunal either reinterpreted the inferences which the evidence supported or reweighed that evidence; in either event substituting its judgment for that of the zoning board, which it may not properly do.

City of West Palm Beach v. Education Dev. Center, Inc., 526 So. 2d 775, 777 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Thus, the Fourth District in EDC was presented with a conclusory order from the circuit court, that on its face did not show that the circuit court had *reweighed* the evidence, but which the Fourth District found to have departed from the essential requirements of law because it *must have* reweighed the evidence (in the Fourth District's view) based on a reexamination of the record (by the Fourth District) which

revealed (according to the Fourth District) that the record did contain substantial competent evidence to support the city's denial of the petition.

This Court, exercising its conflict jurisdiction, reviewed the Fourth District's EDC decision and considered whether the district court had exceeded the proper scope of review by reversing the circuit court's order on the substantial competent evidence question. EDC, 541 So. 2d at 107. This Court concluded that the Fourth District's decision could not be reconciled with Vaillant, and held that "[t]he standard of review for the district court has only *two* discrete components. . . . whether the circuit court afforded procedural due process and applied the correct law." Id. at 108 (citing Vaillant, 419 So. 2d at 626). Because the Fourth District in EDC had reexamined the substantial competent evidence component, albeit because it *inferred* (as in this case) that the circuit court "must have" improperly reweighed the evidence, this Court reversed. "The district court of appeal simply disagreed with the circuit court's evaluation of the evidence." Id. at 108-09.

The decision below also expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Haines</u>, which analyzed and relied upon <u>EDC</u>. In <u>Haines</u>, this Court analyzed and harmonized the prior decisions in this area and clearly spelled out the scope of appellate review by a district court in a case such as this:

As a case travels up the judicial ladder, review should consistently become narrower, not broader. We have held that circuit court review of an administrative agency decision ... is governed by a three-part standard of review: (1) whether procedural due process is accorded; (2) whether the essential requirements of law have been observed; and (3) whether the administrative findings and judgment are supported by substantial competent evidence. ... The standard of review for certiorari in the district court effectively eliminates the substantial competent evidence component.

Haines, 658 So. 2d at 530 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Simply put, the decision below expressly and directly conflicts with these decisions and results in nothing short of a second full review of the substantial competent evidence component in the district court, which is not permitted.

II. The Fourth District's Decision Divides The District Courts Of Appeal On The Same Question Of Law As It Expressly And Directly Conflicts With The Second District's Decision In <u>Kuehnel</u> And The Fifth District's Decision In <u>Owings</u>.

The Fourth District's decision also creates an irreconcilable conflict with the decisions of other district courts that have adhered to the scope of review set forth in <u>EDC</u>, <u>Haines</u> and <u>Vaillant</u>, including <u>Manatee County v. Kuehnel</u>, 542 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>rev. denied</u> 548 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 1989) and <u>St. Johns County v.</u> <u>Owings</u>, 554 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), <u>rev. denied</u> 564 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1990).

In <u>Kuehnel</u>, the circuit court, acting in its appellate capacity, entered a judgment "finding that there was no competent evidence . . . to support [Manatee County's]

decision to deny the request for rezoning." 542 So. 2d at 1357. On certiorari review,

the Second District held:

When a district court of appeal reviews . . . a decision of a trial court acting in its role as an appellate court, the standard of review which the district court must apply is narrow. The court must determine whether the trial court afforded procedural due process and observed the essential requirements of law. . . . The petitioner is not entitled to two full appellate reviews.

The circuit court . . . reviewed the record . . . and determined that no substantial, competent evidence supported the county commission's decision. We find that the county was afforded due process and the circuit court applied the correct law. *This court cannot disagree with the circuit court's evaluation of the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the circuit court*.

Id. at 1358 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In <u>Owings</u>, the Fifth District reached the same conclusion:

As recently emphasized by the Florida Supreme Court in [EDC], a district court of appeal plays a very limited role in reviewing a circuit court's action in a zoning dispute such as this. Only the circuit court can review whether the judgment of the zoning authority is supported by competent substantial evidence.

Again, the circuit court's weighing of the evidence is not subject to review by this court, as long as the correct standard of law has been applied. Regardless of whether this court would have decided the issues before the circuit court differently, a full de novo review of the county's decision by this court is not authorized, as [EDC and Vaillant] make clear. . . . [A]nother full review would render meaningless the circuit court's action. 554 So. 2d at 537 (citations omitted) (emphasis added); see also Fowler v. City of <u>Titusville</u>, 603 So. 2d 724, 725 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

The Fourth District's opinion in this case expressly and directly conflicts with <u>Kuehnel</u> and <u>Owings</u> in that it reviewed the record, disagreed with the circuit court's evaluation of the evidence and substituted its judgment for that of the circuit court as to the substantial competent evidence component.

CONCLUSION

As stated by one of the three judges below, the Fourth District's decision in this case cannot be reconciled with decisions of this Court and other district courts and is a glaring example of the confusion which continues to exist in the district courts on this important and recurring question of law. Unless corrected by this Court, this confusion will continue to produce unauthorized exercises of certiorari review by district courts, usurping the certiorari review authority of circuit courts on the substantial competent evidence issue, vitiating the finality of their decisions on this issue and causing disparate results in quasi-judicial zoning cases among the districts. The lack of predictability and finality on this issue through the circuit court level causes unnecessary litigation in this Court, in the district courts and in the circuit courts on remand, at great costs to the courts, to local governments and to property owners. For all these reasons, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction in this case.