FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 9 19981

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,940

CLERK,	SUPREME	COURT
ris.	ief Beputy C	

ACT SOLTE	POWER	ራ	$I_{\bullet}I_{\bullet}I_{\bullet}I_{\bullet}I_{\bullet}I_{\bullet}I_{\bullet}I_{\bullet}$	COMPANY.

DCA No. 97-1657 District Court of Appeal, Fourth District

Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF DANIA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

E. BRUCE JOHNSON, ESQUIRE
Florida Bar No. 262137
MICHAEL T. BURKE, ESQUIRE
Florida Bar No. 338771
CHRISTINE M. DUIGNAN, ESQUIRE
Florida Bar No. 896500
JOHNSON, ANSELMO, MURDOCH, BURKE
& GEORGE, P.A.
Attorneys for CITY OF DANIA
790 East Broward Boulevard, 4th Flr.
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 1, 1995, Petitioner, FP&L, a provider of electrical service, applied to the CITY for a special exception. On March 26, 1996, the CITY Commission reviewed FP&L's application for a special exception at a public hearing. After hearing testimony and receiving evidence both in favor of and against the special exception, the CITY's Commission voted to deny FP&L's application.

FP&L then appealed via petition for writ of certiorari to the circuit court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County. On April 16, 1997, a single judge of the circuit court issued an Order Granting [FP&L's] Writ of Certiorari and Quashing Commission's Denial of Special Exception.

Subsequently, the CITY filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. After the parties fully briefed the issues, on January 21, 1998, the Fourth District issued its opinion. A unanimous court granted the CITY's request for a petition and quashed the opinion of the circuit court. The district court found that the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law when it improperly imposed an "especially heavy burden" on the CITY because the special exception sought was for an essential service. The district court also found that the circuit court misapplied the law when it reweighed the evidence presented to the CITY Commission.

After its Motion for Rehearing was denied, FP&L sought review in this Court based upon a purported conflict in the law.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

No conflict exists. Therefore, this Court should refuse jurisdiction and deny FP&L's petition for writ of certiorari.

Where a district court opinion contains <u>any</u> grounds which do not create a conflict in the law, no conflict jurisdiction exists. In essence, if grounds exist which would avoid conflict jurisdiction, then this Court will not accept jurisdiction.

Petitioner, FP&L, conveniently and pointedly ignores the fact that in the instant case, the district court's opinion contains two grounds for why the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law. The district court found that the imposition of an especially heavy burden on the CITY constituted a misapplication of the law. This finding fails to create a conflict of opinion among the district courts of appeal or with this Court, such to warrant certiorari jurisdiction. Significantly, FP&L itself does not argue that this finding creates any conflict. Moreover, the district court's finding that the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law when exceeded its scope of review does not conflict with this Court or any other district court.

Based upon the foregoing, no basis for conflict jurisdiction exists.

ARGUMENT

I. NO BASIS EXISTS FOR THIS COURT'S JURISDICTION

Certiorari review in the Supreme Court of Florida extends only to the narrow classes of cases enumerated in Article V, section 3(b) of the Florida Constitution. Mystan Marine, Inc. v. Harrington, 329 So. 2d 200, 201 (Fla. 1976). Specifically, this Court has chosen to keep certiorari jurisdiction based upon conflict to an "absolute minimum." N & L Auto Parts Company v. Doman, 117 So. 2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1960).

Conflict jurisdiction is restricted to the limited situation where the case law is "out of harmony" or where there exists "confusion and instability" among the precedent. Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So. 2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962); see also, Kincaid v. World Insurance Company, 157 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1963). For conflict jurisdiction to exist, the purported conflict must create a "real and embarrassing conflict of opinion and authority." Financial Federal Savings & Loan Assoc. v. Burleigh House, Inc., 336 So. 2d 1145, 1146 (Fla. 1976) (citations omitted).

Importantly, where two cases are distinguishable, there is no conflict. See id. (citations omitted). Consequently, if one of the grounds for a district court decision will avoid a conflict, no conflict jurisdiction exists. See, Kennedy v. Kennedy, 641 So. 2d 408 (Fla. 1994). That is, if the district court's decision contains grounds which arguably may be a basis for certiorari jurisdiction in the Supreme Court of Florida and also contains grounds which do not create a basis for jurisdiction, this Court

will decline to accept jurisdiction. <u>See</u>, <u>Hanft v. Phelan</u>, 488 So. 2d 531, 532 (Fla. 1986).

In the instant case, the district court based its decision on two grounds. The district court held that the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law when it imposed a higher burden on the CITY:

We find no case law to support the circuit court's conclusion that, because the special exception is for essential services, the City had an "especially heavy burden." ... The circuit court's imposition of a higher burden on the City than that enunciated in <u>Irvine</u> also constituted a departure from the essential requirements of law ...

A-4 (emphasis added). This finding-that the circuit court's imposition of a higher burden constituted a departure from the essential requirements of law-does not conflict with any Florida decision on this point of law. Nor does Petitioner suggest this finding as a basis for conflict jurisdiction. See, Pet. Br., passim. Moreover, the district court specifically stated that this finding constituted grounds for granting the petition and quashing the circuit court's opinion. A-1, A-4. Thus, because the district court based its decision on at least one ground which does not conflict with any Florida decision (nor does Petitioner so assert), this case does not fall within that narrow class of cases in which this Court should accept certiorari jurisdiction based upon a purported "conflict."

The concurring opinion in the order on Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing, upon which Petitioner's rely, actually supports the conclusion that no conflict jurisdiction exists. Pet. Br. at 3, 4-

5, 10. In that concurring opinion, Judge Warner recognized that the district court **properly** denied rehearing and **properly** quashed the circuit court opinion

because the [circuit] court imposed an "especially heavy burden" on the city to demonstrate that the special exception does not meet the standards of the zoning ordinance.

B-1. The fact that the concurring opinion states that it is "less clear" about the basis upon which Petitioner now relies for jurisdiction is superfluous. For purposes of this Court's certiorari jurisdiction, if, as here, any of the grounds for the district court's opinion does not create a conflict, then no conflict jurisdiction exists. See supra.

Additionally, where this Court has declined to accept certiorari jurisdiction in a case, that case cannot later be relied upon to serve as a basis for conflict jurisdiction. See, Harrison v. Hyster Company, 515 So. 2d 1279, 1280 (Fla. 1987). Once the Supreme Court of Florida denies review, a case becomes "the law of the land." Maturo v. City of Coral Gables, 619 So. 2d 455, 458 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (Gersten, J. concurring).

In the instant case, FP&L includes <u>City of Fort Lauderdale v.</u>

<u>Multidyne Medical Waste Management, Inc.</u>, 567 So.2d 955, 958 (Fla.

4th DCA 1990), <u>rev. den.</u>, 581 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1991), in support of conflict jurisdiction. Pet. Br. at 4-5. However, this Court refused to review <u>Multidyne</u>, presumably on the grounds that no conflict, or other basis, existed for jurisdiction. Having

declined to exercise jurisdiction in <u>Multidyne</u>, the Court also should refuse jurisdiction in the instant case.

Additionally, if a court exceeds its scope of review or misapplies the law to the facts of the case, it departs from the essential requirements of law. <u>See</u>, <u>Maturo</u>, 619 So. 2d at 457. Furthermore,

[s]uch review is entirely consistent with the above cited authorities [including, Educational Development Center, Inc v. City of West Palm Beach Zoning Board of Appeals, 541 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1989); City of Deerfield Beach v. Valliant, 419 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1982); St. Johns County v. Owings, 554 So.2d 535 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989)¹], and with common sense. (citations omitted). It is our responsibility, as part of the review process, to insure that the Circuit Court has properly applied the law in order to maintain the integrity of the legal system and legal processes.

<u>Id.</u>

In the instant case, the district court recognized the limited nature of its certiorari review, expressly finding that it could consider only whether the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law. A-1-2. The district court determined that the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law when it "exceeded its scope of review" and misapplied the law to the facts of the case. A-2. Accordingly, the district court's finding that the circuit court exceeded its scope of review does not conflict with this Court or any other district court on the same issue of law.

All cited by FP&L. Pet. Br. at 3, 4, 5, 9.

Moreover, this Court, nor any district court, has not expressly held that if a circuit court exceeds its scope of review it has <u>not</u> departed from the essential requirements of law. Thus, under this Court's narrow parameters, the precedent is not conflict on this point of law. Accordingly, no basis exists for conflict jurisdiction.

Because the district court's finding that the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law does not conflict with any other case, the district court's opinion is not "out of harmony" and does not create "confusion and instability" among the precedent. Accordingly, there is no "real and embarrassing conflict" such to justify this Court's jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

This Court should refuse jurisdiction and deny FP&L's petition for writ of certiorari.